CLERK, SHEREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 78,368

SAFECARE HEALTH CORPORATION,

Petitioner/Defendant(s),

vs.

GRETEL LOEB

Respondent/Plaintiff(s).

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDINGS TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER SAFECARE'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICKI LEWIS TANNEN, ESQUIRE Klein & Tannen, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner Presidential Circle 4000 Hollywood Blvd. Suite 620N Hollywood, Florida 33021 Telephone: (305) 963-1100

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This matter originated as a personal injury action brought by Mrs. Gretel Loeb (Mrs. Loeb) against Safecare Health Corporation (Safecare) and Donald Howard, D.O. (Dr. Howard). (R-1)

Initially, Mrs. Loeb, age 74, went to Safecare HMO in order to determine the cause of her decreased appetite and early satiety.

[R.2] Dr. Howard ordered an upper GI series, but failed to order additional tests which, it is alleged, would have revealed Mrs. Loeb's cancer. In the original complaint Mrs. Loeb sued Dr. Howard and Safecare claiming that the care she received fell below acceptable medical standards. [R. 1-4]

Mrs. Loeb settled her claim against Dr. Howard in September of 1989 and executed a Release. The release settled "all actions, causes of action, claims, demands, damages, costs, loss of services and consortium, expenses, attorneys' fees, compensation and all consequential damages on account of or in any way growing out of any and all known and unknown injuries and death which may hereafter result, and property damage resulting or to result or arising out of or in connection with." [R. 55, Appendix p. 3-6] The language of the release specifically excluded Safecare.

Mrs. Loeb passed away on September 20, 1989, nine days after executing the release to Dr. Howard. Judith Rimer was substituted as the Plaintiff in her capacity as Special Administrator of the Estate of Gretel Loeb and the complaint was amended against Safecare, for the wrongful death of Mrs. Loeb. The complaint sought damages provided by the Wrongful Death Act, both for the

alleged act of negligence of Safecare in failing to diagnose the stomach cancer as well as for the vicarious responsibility of Dr. Howard, despite Dr. Howard having settled the claim for the same tortious conduct for One Hundred and Fifty Thousand (\$150,000.00) Dollars. (R. 35-37)

Safecare moved for summary judgment claiming 1) that the wrongful death was barred based upon the legal effect of the Dr. Howard release; and 2) that in the alternative Safecare was entitled to a set-off for the Dr. Howard settlement. The trial court granted the summary judgment as to the set-off issue but denied it as to the release issue.

The Fourth District affirmed the trial court's ruling that the wrongful death action was viable but reversed on the set-off issue, concluding that "to permit a set-off would be to ignore the distinction between an action for personal injury and one for wrongful death, and the respective elements of damages thereof, as well as the difference in the parties entitled to recover." Rimer v. Safecare Health Corporation, 16 FLW D1728 (Fla. 4th DCA, July 3, 1991) [Appendix p. 1-2]

The Fourth District acknowledged that its decision departed from established Florida law on both issues, i.e. the viability of the wrongful death action and whether a set-off was proper where recovery had already been made for the same tortious conduct; therefore the following questions were certified to this Court:

IS AN ACTION FOR WRONGFUL DEATH AGAINST A JOINT TORTFEASOR BARRED BY A PRIOR SETTLEMENT OF A CLAIM FOR PERSONAL INJURIES AGAINST ANOTHER TORTFEASOR?

IS THE TORTFEASOR INVOLVED IN THE WRONGFUL DEATH ACTION ENTITLED TO A SET-OFF FOR A SETTLEMENT MADE WITH A JOINT TORTFEASOR IN A PERSONAL INJURY ACTION SETTLED PRIOR TO THE CLAIMANT'S DEATH?

This Court postponed its order on jurisdiction and accepted the case for briefing on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth District erred because its decision below will permit a double recovery for the same injury. This is in conflict with the law in Florida, including this Courts prior decisions, which prevent double recoveries for the same injury. This error is predicated upon the Fourth District's finding that the Estate's wrongful death action is totally independent of the underlying personal injury action. This characterization departs from Florida law which recognizes the dual nature of a wrongful death action, i.e. it is a separate cause of action but it retains its essentially derivative character.

Safecare's position before this Court is the same as before the trial and appellate courts: 1) The Estate's wrongful death action is barred because there has already been a recovery for the same tortious conduct which forms the basis for the wrongful death action, and 2) in the alternative, Safecare should be entitled to a set-off for the amount of \$150,000 for the same reason, i.e. the same tortious conduct caused the personal injuries and the subsequent wrongful death, and a set-off would prevent a double recovery.

That the same tortious conduct is involved in both causes of action is evident by the language found in the original and amended complaints. The tortious conduct of both Defendants was the failure to order the additional test which Mrs. Loeb alleged would have revealed her stomach cancer. Thus the tortious conduct was

the failure of performing one act, on the same day, at the same time; i.e. ordering the test which the Plaintiff alleges would have avoided Mrs. Loeb's untimely death. Therefore, the direct and only source of negligence was Dr. Howard's failure to order the test. Mrs. Loeb, and her Estate, have already recovered against Dr. Howard the total amount recoverable. For that reason the wrongful However, if this death cause of action should have been barred. Court decides that the wrongful death cause of action is viable, to disallow the set-off would result in a double recovery for the Estate. This is contrary to the public policy of this State and in conflict with the prior decisions of this Court. This Court should reverse the Fourth District and bar this action so that a double recovery does not occur. Alternatively this Court should reverse on the issue of set-off and answer the second certified question affirmatively.

ISSUE ONE

IS AN ACTION FOR WRONGFUL DEATH AGAINST A JOINT-TORTFEASOR BARRED BY A PRIOR SETTLEMENT OF A CLAIM FOR PERSONAL INJURIES AGAINST ANOTHER TORTFEASOR?

Though separate causes of action exist for medical malpractice and wrongful death, recovery for wrongful death by the estate of a decedent for failure to diagnose cancer is barred where prior to death, the decedent had already recovered \$150,000 for the same tortious act, that is, the failure to diagnose the cancer. That is the conclusion reasonably drawn from this Court's unequivocal statement in Variety Children's Hospital v. Perkins, 445 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1984):

"the judgment for personal injuries rendered in favor of an injured party while living barred the subsequent wrongful death action <u>based on the same tortious</u> <u>conduct</u>,"

Variety at 1011.

Variety involved an action for injuries by a minor. The minor recovered for his injuries and his parents also recovered for past and future medical expenses. Upon the minor's death, the father as personal representative brought a wrongful death action. Variety Children's Hospital was granted a summary judgment on the grounds that the cause of action had already been satisfied by the first recovery. The certified question to this court was

"whether a judgment for personal injuries recovered during life-time of an injured person bars a subsequent wrongful death action by the personal representative of the deceased where death is a result of the same injuries."

The question certified in Variety is substantively indistinguishable from the first certified question presented to this Court by the Fourth District in Loeb. The Variety Court answered the question affirmatively, thus barring the wrongful death action "based on the same tortious conduct" Variety at 1011. See also Valiant Ins. Co. v. Webster, 567 So.2d 408, 411 (Fla. 1990) ("a prior judgment for personal injuries will bar a cause of action for wrongful death brought when the injured party subsequently dies.")

The key elements in barring a subsequent wrongful death action then are the <u>same tortious conduct causing both the injury and the wrongful death and a recovery in the first action.</u> In Loeb, the original complaint sought damages for personal injury, alleging medical malpractice against Dr. Howard and Safecare. At all times material to this suit, Safecare was Dr. Howard's employee and any negligence alleged against Safecare <u>ultimately</u> resulted in Dr. Howard's failure to order certain tests. The Estate amended the complaint against Safecare, adding the action for the wrongful death of Mrs. Loeb, who died nine days after releasing Dr. Howard. Thus the wrongful death action against Safecare is based upon the <u>same tortious conduct</u> as in the original action filed against Safecare and Dr. Howard. The only distinguishing feature between this case and Variety (where the wrongful death action was barred)

[&]quot;Is an action for wrongful death against a joint-tortfeasor barred by a prior settlement of a claim for personal injuries against another tortfeasor." Rimer v. Safecare Health Corporation, 16 FLW D1728 (Fla. 4th DCA, July 3, 1991)

is that in Variety there was only one defendant, the hospital, while here there are two; the HMO and the employee doctor, but the tortious conduct is the same. Applying the doctrine of Variety to the facts in Loeb leads to the conclusion that the action against Safecare should also have been barred.²

The Fourth District however, held that The Estate's wrongful death action was not barred, because "[t]he right to recover for wrongful death is separate and distinct from, rather than derivative of, the injured person's right while living to recover for personal injuries." Rimer v. Safecare Health Corporation, 16 FLW D1728 (Fla. 4th DCA, July 3, 1991). The Fourth District relied upon this Court's language in Devlin v. McMannis, 231 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1970) but in so doing disregarded this Court's post-Devlin decision which had acknowledged the dual nature of a wrongful death cause of action as both derivative and independent:

While the Wrongful Death Act creates independent claims for the survivors, these claims are also derivative in the sense that they are dependent upon a wrong committed upon another person. No Florida decision has allowed a survivor to recover under the wrongful death statute where the decedent could not have recovered.

Valiant Insurance Co. v. Webster, 567 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1990) at 411.

Thus the Fourth District's reasoning that the wrongful death act was not derivative and created an "independent cause of action in the statutory beneficiaries" which was not dependent upon the underlying personal injury claim, was in error. See also Celotex Corp. v. Meehan, 523 So.2d 141, 147 (Fla. 1988) ("A wrongful death

² This was the very issue raised in Safecare's cross-appeal in Loeb. See Appellee's Answer Brief and Cross-Appeal at page 17.

action is derivative of the injured person's right, while living, to recover for personal injury").

Mrs. Loeb had been fully compensated for her injury before her death. To now allow the estate to re-litigate the case to obtain an additional judgment... would create, as this Court has stated, many additional problems involving "lack of repose, double recovery, discouragement of settlement..." Variety at 1012.

In a similiar context, the Third District in Warren v. Cohen, 363 So.2d 129 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), Cert. Denied 373 So.2d 462 (Fla. 1979) held that a "subsequently filed wrongful death action is barred by the release signed by the decedent prior to her death." Warren at 131. The Third District also noted that while there was "split of authority on the issue, it appears that Florida follows the majority view, i.e. a decedent's release bars a subsequent wrongful death action.3" Warren at 131.

The Warren court, while acknowledging that "the damages awardable to the deceased's survivors on a wrongful death claim are not identical to those paid to the injured person or settlement" nonetheless rejected the argument that these different damages prevent "double recovery" and barred the subsequent wrongful death action filed for the same tortious conduct. Warren at 131. This

³ Footnote by the Court: Boole v. Florida Power & Light Co., 147 Fla. 589, 3 So.2d 335 (1941); Ryter v. Brennan, 291 So.2d 55 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974), cert. den. 297 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1974); also in accord is the federal rule, as pronounced in Mellon v. Goodyear, 277 U.S. 335, 48 S.Ct. 541, 72 L.Ed. 906 (1928) and Walrod v. Southern Pacific Company, 447 F.2d 930 (9th Cir. 1971).

Court cited the Warren decision approvingly in Ash v. Stella, 457 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1984).

Based upon the foregoing, this court should answer the first certified question in the affirmative and bar the wrongful death action against Safecare, thereby preventing a double recovery for the Estate.

ISSUE TWO

IS THE TORTFEASOR INVOLVED IN THE WRONGFUL DEATH ACTION ENTITLED TO A SET-OFF FOR A SETTLEMENT MADE WITH A JOINT TORTFEASOR IN A PERSONAL INJURY ACTION SETTLED PRIOR TO THE CLAIMANT'S DEATH?

Safecare and Dr. Howard at all times pertinent to this case have been in an employee/employer relationship. Thus the Estate is seeking damages against two different parties for the same injury (the failure to order a test on the same date). This Court should acknowledge as the Trial Court did, that Safecare is entitled to a set-off of One Hundred and Fifty Thousand (\$150,000.00) Dollars for the wrongful death action brought against them.

Florida Statutes \$768.31 (5)(a) (1989) provides in pertinent part that "when a release... is given in good faith to one of two or more persons liable in tort for the same injury... it reduces the claim against the others..." The injury in the wrongful death action for which the Estate seeks to recover is the injury arising out of the failure to order the test which would have diagnosed Mrs. Loeb's cancer of the stomach. This is the same injury that was the basis of the recovery from Dr. Howard. The fact that they both arise out of the same tortious conduct, mandates under Florida law a set-off for the \$150,000 paid to Mrs. Loeb in the wrongful death action against Safecare. The trial court so ruled, and the Fourth District's reversal on this point was error.

That a set-off should be applied to guard against double recovery is clearly the law in Florida:

The only proper method of ensuring against duplicate recoveries in an undifferentiated lump sum settlement situation is to set-off the total settlement funds against the total jury award.

Dionese v. City of West Palm Beach, 500 So.2d 1347, 1350 (Fla. 1987)

As this Court noted in Dionese, the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act, Section 768.31, Florida Statutes (1983), specifically subsection (5) was created "[i]n order to encourage settlements." Dionese at 1350. See also Warren v. Cohen, 363 So. 2d 129, (3rd DCA 1978) cert. denied 373 So.2d 462 (Fla. 1979) ("[t]o hold otherwise would be to undermine the public policy favoring the settlement of lawsuits...") Thus Dionese is fully applicable. See also Alexander v. Seaquest Inc., 575 So.2d 765 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) where the Fourth District, relying upon the authority of Dionese found that

The trial judge properly set-off the undifferentiated lump sum settlement against the total jury award <u>in order to ensure that appellant did not recover twice for the same wrong.[Emphasis Supplied]</u>

Alexander at 766.4

The principle that one may not recover twice for the same injury was addressed in the Fourth District's Raben Builders v. First American Bank, 561 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). And

⁴ The Fourth District in Alexander also noted that settlements are to be encouraged, "In any event, the apportionment comes too late if done after the jury verdict because the non-settling tort-feasors lose the right to settle, thus frustrating the purpose of section 768.31(5), Florida Statutes (1987). Alexander at 766.

while the case involved the embezzlement of funds and not medical malpractice and a wrongful death action, the language on double recovery was not in any way limited to the specific facts of the In Raben, a bookkeeper in Raben's real estate office embezzled \$650,000 dollars. Raben subsequently settled with First American for the embezzlement and other dealings for over two million. First American was subsequently dismissed from the action based upon their settlement which, like the settlement in Loeb, specifically excluded Raben's accountants, Peat Marwick.5 Raben proceeded against Peat Marwick for recovery of the same injury, i.e. the embezzled funds, Peat Marwick moved for summary judgment "on grounds that Raben had been fully compensated for its \$650,000 loss by way of the settlement with First American and therefore Raben could not be compensated again for the same damages flowing from the embezzlement." Raben at 1230. The Court determined that despite there being two different defendants, with one being "responsible for banking malpractice and the other for accounting malpractice...[and] even if the number of dollars recoverable by plaintiff from bank and Peat Marwick were not identical, all the damages recoverable by plaintiff from Peat Marwick were also recoverable by plaintiff from bank." Raben at Thus the court's focus was on preventing a double recovery for the same injury. The Fourth District, in agreeing with the

⁵ The language stated "all of the claims filed in this matter by the Plaintiffs, against *only* the Defendant, First American and Trust with prejudice." Raben at 1230. In Loeb, the settlement specifically excluded Safecare from the release.

trial court that its "decision is supported by the law of setoff..." Raben at 1230, concluded that:

Raben had a choice of whether to settle with either of the defendants or go to trial against both, but in either case, its total damages flowing from the embezzlement remained the same. The trial court rightly found that Raben was entitled to but one recovery for \$650,000. Raben elected to receive full compensation for its loss from the embezzlement from the settlement with First American. It is not entitled to a double recovery. [citations omitted, emphasis supplied]

Raben at 1231.

In order to prevent just such a double recovery Florida law provides that an election of remedies is necessary. The Second District has held specifically that an election of remedies is necessary to prevent one from having a double recovery when there are damages in a survival action which leads to a death which proximately occurs from the same negligent act. In Diamond vs. Whaley, Chapman & Hannah, 550 So.2d 54 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), Mr. & Mrs. Diamond initially filed a medical malpractice claim alleging misdiagnosis of cancer. After the suit was filed, Mrs. Diamond The husband, as Personal Representative, continued the died. survival action and also filed an Amended Complaint for wrongful The Court concluded that "The Plaintiff's theories are death. factually inconsistent and ultimately he can recover, at most, upon one factual scenario," Diamond at 55. In this case allowing the Estate to recover in the wrongful death action would be permitting a double recovery because recovery has already occurred for the survival action.

The Fourth District has similarly recognized that a widow, whose husband allegedly would have lived six (6) to eight (8) months longer, had he received proper diagnosis and treatment of cancer, but whose cancer was incurable, even with proper treatment, could not maintain an action against the physician under the survival statute. See, Tappan vs. Florida Medical Center, 488 So.2d 630 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). The Fourth District held that Mrs. Tappan could not recover under the survival statute for the failure to properly diagnose and treat the cancer, and then after the death of her husband, seek wrongful death damages alleging that the same misdiagnosis and treatment of the cancer caused the death. also, Williams vs. Bay Hospital, Inc., 471 So.2d 626 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), (where the Court concluded that a party could not bring both a survival action and a wrongful death action against a health care provider for misdiagnosing cancer, but instead could only bring a survival action.)

The fact that this case involves an employee-employer relationship does not render the principle which prevents double recovery inapplicable. As the First District has stated, "when there is an active employee tortfeasor and respondeat superior liability of the employer then the prosecution of an action to judgment and satisfaction against the employer precludes a subsequent second action against the employee for the same conduct." Atlantic Cylinder v. Hetner, 438 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) Admittedly, the situation is reversed in the Loeb case, with the settling party being the employee and not the employer, however

the rationale underlying the principle is the same, there cannot be a double recovery for the "same wrongful conduct." Atlantic at 923.

Once this Court recognizes, which it must, that the Plaintiff is seeking damages against two different parties for the same injury (the failure to order the test which allegedly would have detected the stomach cancer) it must then recognize that at the very least, Safecare is entitled to a set-off of One Hundred and Fifty Thousand (\$150,000.00) Dollars for the wrongful death action brought against them, regardless of the Estate's stipulation that no medical expenses will be sought.

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