#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 78,368

SAFECARE HEALTH CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

GRETEL LOEB,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE

NOV 20 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chie Deputy Clerk

On review from the Fourth District Court of Appeal, of Florida

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

THOMAS D. LARDIN, P.A. Attorney for Respondent 1901 West Cypress Creek Road Suite 100 Fort Lauderdale, FL. 33309 (305) 938-4406

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no need for the Supreme Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction because Florida decisional law is clear given the circumstances of this matter. The Supreme Court has recognized that the right to recover for wrongful death is separate and distinct from the injured person's right while living for personal injuries and that set-offs are inappropriate where there are separate and distinct actions involving different elements of damages.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals did not err in its decision. To bar a wrongful death suit against an independent tortfeasor because of the decedent's recovery of personal injury damages against another tortfeasor would be contrary to the purpose of Florida's Wrongful Death Act and would allow a tortfeasor to evade liability.

The perceived fear that if a wrongful death action is allowed to follow a personal injury recovery there would be double liability and thus double recovery is unfounded. A wrongful death judgment compensates the statutory beneficiaries for specific elements of damages while the personal injury judgment compensates the injured party for injuries the individual has sustained.

To permit a set-off would be to ignore the distinction between a personal injury action and a wrongful death action and would allow the tortfeasor who committed an independent act of negligence to evade liability for his misconduct when that misconduct results in the death of a human being.

Under the circumstances of this case, there are two independent tortfeasors, there are two separate and distinct causes of injuries, and the elements of damages arising out of the personal injury action are separate and distinct from those arising out of the wrongful death claim. Florida decisional law is clear and therefore the Fourth District Court of Appeals decision should be affirmed and the two questions certified, if reviewed by this Court, should be answered in the negative.

#### **ISSUE ONE**

UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS MATTER, SHOULD THE SUPREME COURT ACCEPT CERTIORARI WHERE THERE IS NO NEED FOR ANY CLARIFICATION OF EXISTING FLORIDA DECISION LAW?

Article V of the Florida Constitution embodies the idea of a Supreme Court that functions as a supervisory body exercising its appellate power in only certain specified areas that are essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and preservations of uniformity of principal and practice. Sanches v. Wimpey, 409 So2d 20 (Fla. 1982).

Under the circumstances of this case, Florida law is clear that where a person dies as a result of the negligence of another, two separate and distinct and independent rights have been violated. Epps v. Railway Express Agency, 40 So2d 131, 132 (Fla. 1949). The right to recover under a personal injury cause of action is the injured persons right to recover for the damages inflicted upon the injured individual. The statutory beneficiaries right to recover under a wrongful death action is the beneficiaries right to recover for the damages suffered by the statutory beneficiaries as a result of the death of the decedent caused by a wrongdoer's negligence.

The wrongful death judgment compensates the statutory beneficiaries for certain elements of damages which are different from those compensated by the personal injury judgment. The perceived fear that there will be double liability and double

recovery if a wrongful death action is allowed to follow a personal injury action is unfounded. The elements of damages which are capable of being duplicated would be acknowledged and taken into account prior to the wrongful death action.

The set-off contemplated by Florida Statute 768.041 "must be interpreted so as to preserve the identity of separate causes of action and the distinctive character of the damage elements accruing under each cause." <u>Devlin v. McMannis</u>, 231 So2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1970). This statute does not require set-offs where parties are entitled to compensation for particular damage elements under one cause of action and beneficial recipients are entitled to compensation for different elements of damages accruing under another cause of action. <u>Id</u> at 196.

In the present case, the original Plaintiff, MRS. LOEB, was entitled to compensation for her damages under her personal injury claim for DR. HOWARD's negligence and SAFECARE's independent acts of negligence. Judith Rimer, as a statutory beneficiary of MRS. LOEB's estate, is entitled to compensation recoverable under those elements of damages accruing under a wrongful death claim because the decedent was never compensated for the damages she suffered as a direct and proximate result of SAFECARE's misconduct which resulted in her death.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals decision does not depart from established Florida law. The Florida Supreme Court in <u>Variety</u> Children's Hospital v. Perkins, 445 So2d 1010 (Fla. 1984) stated that the purpose of the Florida Wrongful Death, was to prevent a

tortfeasor from evading liability for his misconduct when that conduct results in death. In <u>Variety</u>, the Court held that no right of action remains for the benefit of statutory beneficiaries if the injured party sues and recovers damages for fatal injuries during his lifetime.

This present case involves two different tortfeasors, not one, and the Estate seeks to recover damages from a Defendant whom the injured party, decedent, has not recovered from during her lifetime. MRS. LOEB's claim against SAFECARE was viable at the time of her death and Florida law does not preclude her survivors from recovering against SAFECARE for their independent acts of negligence.

The Supreme Court should not accept certiorari given the circumstances of this matter. There is no need for the Supreme Court to exercise its appellate power when Florida decisional law is clear.

#### ISSUE TWO

IS AN ACTION FOR WRONGFUL DEATH AGAINST ONE TORTFEASOR BARRED BY A PRIOR SETTLEMENT OF A CLAIM FOR PERSONAL INJURY AGAINST ANOTHER TORTFEASOR WHERE THE ELEMENTS OF DAMAGES ARE ENTIRELY DIFFERENT?

When a person dies as the result of the negligent acts of another, "two separate, distinct, and independent rights have been violated". Epps v. Railway Express Agency, 40 So2d 131 (Fla. 1339). The personal injury cause of action for negligence is based on the common law right, and the cause of action for wrongful death is statutory. Florida Statute 768.19.

A negligence action is in favor of the injured party and the right to recover is for the damages suffered by the injured party as a result of the injuries inflicted upon their person. A wrongful death action is in favor of the decedent's estate and the statutorily designated survivors. The statutory beneficiaries right to recover is for the damages suffered by the beneficiaries as a result of the death of the decedent caused by the tortfeasor's negligent acts. Taylor v. Orlando Clinic, 555 So2d 876 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

The original act of negligence of SAFECARE is the basis of all actions maintainable by MRS. LOEB in her lifetime and by Judith Rimer, the Special Administrator of MRS. LOEB's estate, after her death. The decedent has recovered for the failure of DR. HOWARD to diagnose her cancer; however, the decedent never recovered from

SAFECARE for their independent acts of negligence.

Prior to MRS. LOEB's death, she was entitled to litigate her personal injury claim against SAFECARE. To deny the wrongful death suit against SAFECARE for their independent acts of negligence, because of the recovery of personal injury damages against DR. HOWARD, would be tantamount to allowing SAFECARE to evade liability for misconduct which resulted in MRS. LOEB's death and contrary to the Florida Wrongful Death Act.

As the Fourth District Court of Appeals correctly noted, this case, unlike <u>Variety</u>, involves not only the question of a set-off, it also involves two different tortfeasors. In <u>Variety</u>, this Court held that the statutory beneficiaries were barred from bringing a wrongful death action against the Defendant Variety, because a decedent had recovered against the <u>same</u> defendant in a personal injury action prior to the decedent's death. In this case, the decedent did not recover from SAFECARE prior to MRS. LOEB's death. Therefore, MRS. LOEB's estate is entitled to recover from SAFECARE for its independent acts of negligence because the wrongful death claim is not based on the same tortious conduct of Defendant, DR. HOWARD.

It is error to try to apply the doctrine of <u>Variety</u> to the facts in this case. Not only are there two tortfeasors, but one of the tortfeasor, SAFECARE, has not been held accountable for its tortious conduct. This Court in <u>Variety</u> noted that "one of the paramount purposes of the Florida Wrongful Death Act was to prevent a tortfeasor from evading liability for its misconduct when such

misconduct results in death." Id at 1012. To bar the statutory beneficiaries from bringing a wrongful death claim against SAFECARE for its independent acts of negligence, not only defeats the purpose of the ACT but denies the statutory beneficiaries their right to damages. Damages which are entirely different from those elements of damages awarded to the decedent in her personal injury claim against separate and distinct tortfeasor for his acts of negligence.

The Third District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Warren v.</u>
Cohen, 363 So2d 129 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978), cert. denied, 373 So.2d
462 (Fla. 1979), like <u>Variety</u> only bars the beneficiaries from filing a wrongful death claim against the tortfeasor when the decedent has already recovered against the <u>same</u> tortfeasor during his or her lifetime. Florida law is clear that where an injured party could recover against a tortfeasor during his lifetime, the statutory beneficiaries are not barred from bringing a wrongful death action against the same tortfeasor if the decedent had not been compensated for damages.

Based upon the foregoing a wrongful death claim against one tortfeasor is not barred by a prior settlement of a claim for personal injuries against another tortfeasor. To bar the statutory beneficiaries the right to bring a wrongful death claim against SAFECARE for its independent acts of negligence would be to allow SAFECARE to evade liability for its negligent conduct. Therefore, the Court should answer the first certified question in the negative.

### **ISSUE III**

IS A TORTFEASOR WHO IS INVOLVED IN A WRONGFUL DEATH ACTION ENTITLED TO A SET-OFF FOR A SETTLEMENT MADE WITH ANOTHER TORTFEASOR IN A PERSONAL INJURY ACTION SETTLED PRIOR TO THE CLAIMANT'S DEATH?

The Estate of MRS. LOEB is seeking damages against SAFECARE for their independent acts of negligence, therefore, SAFECARE is not entitled to a set-off of a wrongful death action brought against them. A set-off from a Judgment against one tortfeasor is authorized only in the amount constituting a settlement for damage elements recoverable in the same cause of action against another tortfeasor. Devlin v. McMannis, 231 So2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1970).

This Court has held that the set-off contemplated by Florida Statute 768.041 "must be interpreted to preserve the identity of separate causes of action and the distinctive character of the damage elements accruing under each such cause". Id.

To permit a set-off would be to ignore the distinction between a personal injury claim and its elements of damages and a wrongful death claim and its distinctive elements of damages. The former is the right of an injured party to recover for damages they suffered by reason of the injuries inflicted upon them. The later right to recover is for the damages the statutory beneficiaries have suffered as a result of the death of the descendant caused by the negligent conduct of the tortfeasor. Epps v. Railway Express Agency, 40 So2d 131, 132 (Fla. 1949).

MRS. LOEB had been compensated for the damages she had suffered as a result of Defendant DR. HOWARD's negligence. Because

MRS. LOEB was not able to recover against Defendant SAFECARE prior to her death, her Estate has the right to bring a wrongful death action against SAFECARE and recover those damages the statutory beneficiaries have suffered as a result of SAFECARE's independent acts of negligence. The identity of these separate causes of action and the distinctive characteristics of the damage elements accruing under each of these causes must be preserved. Devlin v. McMannis, 231 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1970).

The principal of law expounded in Raben Builders v. First American Bank, 561 So.2d 1229 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) is that absent proof that a Defendant is liable for damages which are separate and distinct and in excess of those damages recovered against one defendant, a claimant cannot recover against another Defendant for the same damages. In Raben, unlike the Loeb case, the amount the claimant settled with one Defendant for compensated the injured party for the total amount he lost through the embezzlement. The claimant could not pursue a cause of action against the Co-Defendant because he, unlike MRS. LOEB's estate, had been fully compensated for his losses. The Estate of MRS. LOEB, on the other hand, has not been compensated at all for its damages.

Allowing the Estate to recover in a wrongful death action would not be permitting a double recovery because a wrongful death judgment compensates parties for certain elements of damages which are separate and distinct from those damages compensated in a personal injury judgment. The Estate notes the potential duplication of medical expenses from the date of injury to the date

of death and those claims have been waived by the Estate, Rimer v. Safecare Health Corporation, 16 FLW D 1728 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

In cases cited by Petitioner, the Courts have denied a wrongful death claim because the decedent had already recovered against the tortfeasor while they were alive. The facts in this case can be distinguished from the cases cited by the Petitioner in several ways:

- MRS. LOEB had a cause of action against both Defendant DR. HOWARD and Defendant SAFECARE while she was alive,
- 2. MRS. LOEB settled only with DR. HOWARD for those elements of damages brought under her personal injury cause of action for DR. HOWARD's negligence,
- 3. The Estate's Complaint alleges independent acts of negligence by SAFECARE that resulted in injury to MRS. LOEB,
- 4. The Estate seeks compensation from SAFECARE for its independent tortious conduct, and
- 5. A set-off cannot be contemplated because Florida Law must be interrupted so as to "preserve the identity of separate causes of actions in the distinctive elements of damages accruing under personal injury claims and wrongful death claims. Devlin v. McMannis, 231 So2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1970).

To allow a set-off in this matter would be to: (1) ignore the distinction between a personal injury cause of action and a wrongful death claim, (2) ignore the differences in the parties entitled to recovery, and (3) ignore the respective elements of damages accruing under each cause of action.

Florida Wrongful Death Act creates an independent cause of action in the Estate and the statutory beneficiaries. Therefore, any recovery obtained on the beneficiaries behalf cannot be set off by the Decedent's settlement of a personal injury claim against a separate and distinct tortfeasor who committed independent acts of negligence against the decedent.

## CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court should not exercise its discretionary power to review this case as Florida decisional law is clear on this matter. If this Court decides to review this case on its merits, MRS. LOEB's estate asks this Court to find that the Estate's Wrongful Death claim is a viable cause of action and that there can be no set-off in the amount paid by Defendant DR. HOWARD as the tortious conduct alleged against Defendant SAFECARE is separate and distinct from that of Defendant, DR. HOWARD. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeals and answer both certified questions in the negative.